THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case Number.: 2018-002236

Case No. 2016-CP-32-00950

---

Amy S. Davis, as Personal Representative of the Estate of  
Utricia Shealy, deceased, ..... Respondent,

v.

Agape Nursing Rehabilitation Center, Inc., Agape Management Services, Inc., John Doe, Richard  
Roe Corporation, Jane Doe, and Mary Doe Corporation, ..... Defendants

Of which Agape Nursing Rehabilitation Center, Inc. and Agape Management Services,  
Inc., are the ..... Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

(1) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS' POST-TRIAL MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL AFTER THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY GRANTED RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT ON APPELLANTS' DEFENSE OF INTERVENING CAUSE WHERE EVIDENCE OF INTERVENING CONDUCT BY A NON-PARTY PHYSICIAN HAD BEEN PROVIDED AT TRIAL.

(2) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING IMPROPER AND PREJUDICIAL EVIDENCE OVER APPELLANTS' OBJECTIONS AND DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL DUE TO THE IMPROPER ADMISSIONS.

(3) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTIONS FOR JNOV AFTER ERRONEOUSLY SUBMITTING A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE AGAINST AGAPE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. TO THE JURY WHEN THE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL FAILS TO ESTABLISH THAT IT IS EITHER A HEALTH CARE INSTITUTION OR VICARIOUSLY LIABLE FOR THE NEGLIGENCE OF ANY HEALTH CARE PROVIDER AS DEFINED IN S.C. CODE 15-79-110.

(4) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR LEAVE TO DEPOSIT INTO THE COURT AND STAY EXECUTION AND THE ACCRUAL OF INTEREST.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action began when Utricia Shealy, through her then attorney-in-fact, filed a Summons and Complaint on March 16, 2016. (R. p. 27-65.) On or about October 3, 2017, Respondent's predecessor filed the Second Amended Complaint (the "Complaint") in this action, wherein she claimed that the ordinary and professional negligence of the Appellants caused the decedent, Utricia Shealy, to suffer a fall in a nursing home resulting in damages. (R. p. 66-80.) On October 18, 2017, Appellants answered the Complaint, asserting in relevant part the affirmative defense of intervening cause. (R. p. 81-87.) The case was tried before a jury and the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, in Lexington County, South Carolina the week of October 22, 2018.

Following the close of Respondent's case, Appellants moved for directed verdict on both causes of action, and the court denied these motions. (R. p. 717-735.) Appellants restated and renewed their motions for directed verdict at the close of all evidence, and the court denied these motions. (R. p. 796-801.) Respondents then moved for directed verdict on Appellants' affirmative defense of intervening cause, which the court granted over Appellants' opposition. (R. p. 801-809.) After oral arguments and the charge, the jury returned a verdict against both Appellants, finding that Appellants were amalgamated; that the Respondent suffered \$47,500 of economic damages; that Respondent suffered \$250,000 of non-economic damages. (R. p. 1219-1222) The jury allocated sixty-five (65%) of the damages to ordinary negligence and thirty-five percent (35%) of the damages to professional negligence. (Id.) The trial court entered judgment against the Appellants on the verdict. (R. p. 1-2.)

Following the Judgment on November 5, 2018, Appellants made a timely Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the alternative, a Motion for a New Trial Absolute, or in the Alternative, a Motion for a New Trial *Nisi Remittitur*. (R. p. 1163-1182.) Appellants also

made a timely Motion for Leave to Deposit and Stay the Accrual of Interest and Execution Pending a Ruling on Post-Trial Motions and any Appeal. (R. p. 1202-1205.) Appellants received notice of electronic notice of the entry of the court's orders denying these motions on November 30, 2018. The Notice of Appeal timely followed on December 19, 2018. (R. p. 1223-1257.)

### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

- (1) *Denial of Appellants' motion for new trial following the erroneous grant of Respondent's Motion for Directed Verdict.*

An appellate court will reverse the trial court's grant of a directed verdict when any evidence supports the party opposing the directed verdict. Milhouse v. Food Lion, Inc., 289 S.C. 203, 345 S.E.2d 739, 739 (Ct.App.1986). The appellate court must determine "whether a verdict for a party opposing the motion would be reasonably possible under the facts as liberally construed in his [or her] favor." Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, L.L.C., 368 S.C. 444, 463, 629 S.E.2d 653, 663 (2006). "When considering directed verdict motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence." Id.

Under Rule 59(a), SCRPC, "A new trial may be granted ... in an action in which there has been a trial by jury, for any of the reasons for which new trials have heretofore been granted in actions at law in the courts of the State .... The grant or denial of new trial motions rests within the discretion of the circuit court, and its decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless its findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law." Brinkley v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 386 S.C. 182, 185, 687 S.E.2d 54, 56 (Ct.App.2009).

- (2) *Denial of Appellants' motion for a new trial under Rule 59(a), SCRPC or a new trial under the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine.*

In addition to Rule 59(a), SCRPC, the trial court has the authority to grant a new trial on

the facts under the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine. The trial court's discretion to grant or deny a new trial as the thirteenth juror is very broad. "As has often been said, the trial judge is the thirteenth juror, possessing the veto power to the Nth degree...." Worrell v. S.C. Power Co., 186 S.C. 306, 313-14, 195 S.E. 638, 641 (1938). As this court has stated, "'to reverse the denial of a new trial motion under [the thirteenth juror doctrine,] we must, in essence, conclude that the moving party was entitled to a directed verdict at trial.'" Curtis v. Blake, 392 S.C. 494, 709 S.E.2d 79 (Ct.App.2011).

(3) *Denial of Appellants' Motion for Directed Verdict and JNOV regarding Agape Management Company, Inc.'s liability for professional negligence.*

"[A] motion for JNOV under Rule 50(b), SCRPC, is a renewal of a directed verdict motion." Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 496 (Ct.App.2006). The trial court must grant a motion for directed verdict or for judgment notwithstanding the verdict unless "the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt." Welch v. Epstein, 342 S.C. 279, 299, 536 S.E.2d 408, 418 (Ct.App.2000). "A motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict." Id. at, 300, 536 S.E.2d at 419

(4) *Denial of Appellants' Leave to Deposit Motion*

Relying on federal court precedent, the South Carolina Supreme Court has concluded that the granting of leave to deposit money with the court pursuant to Rule 67, SCRPC is a matter within the discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned absent an abuse of that discretion. S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 369 S.C. 150, 153, 631 S.E.2d 533, 535 (2006) (citing Cajun Elec. Power Co-op., Inc. v. Riley Stoker Corp., 901 F.2d 441, 445 (5th Cir.1990)). Presumably, then, the same standard of review applies to the denial of a motion seeking leave to deposit money with the court pursuant to Rule 67, SCRPC. An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. Conner v. City of Forest Acres, 363 S.C. 460, 467, 611 S.E.2d 905, 908 (2005). Counsel for the

Appellants is not aware of any case in South Carolina specifically establishing the standard of review for the denial of leave to deposit money with the court and stay execution under either Rule 62(d), SCRPC or S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130. However, historically, such matters have been reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. See Brown v. Buttz, 15 S.C. 488, 492 (1881).

### ARGUMENT

**A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT ON APPELLANTS' AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE OF INTERVENING CAUSE, REQUIRING THE GRANT OF A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE.**

Proximate cause is normally a question of fact for determination by the jury and may be proved by direct or circumstantial evidence. Gause v. Smithers, 403 S.C. 140, 150, 742 S.E.2d 644, 649 (2013) (quotations omitted). "The touchstone of proximate cause is foreseeability which is determined by looking to the natural and probable consequences of the defendant's conduct." Id. "To exculpate a negligent defendant, the intervening cause must be one which breaks the sequence or causal connection between the defendant's negligence and the injury alleged." Id. (quotation omitted). "**Only in rare or exceptional cases may the issue of proximate cause be decided as a matter of law.**" Id. (quoting Bailey v. Segars, 346 S.C. 359, 367, 550 S.E.2d 910, 914 (Ct.App.2001)) (emphasis added).

The trial court granted Respondent's motion for directed verdict, which prevented the jury from considering Appellant's affirmative defense of intervening cause or that defense being placed on the verdict form. (R. p. 801-808.) The trial court erred, because the facts at trial, when liberally viewed in favor of the Appellants, required the affirmative defense of intervening cause to be submitted to the jury. Sufficient evidence existed for the jury to believe that the actions of Mrs. Shealy's treating physician, Dr. Gal Margalit, was an intervening cause of her fall on July 2, 2014.

**1. Ellen Lewis' testimony and the medical records.**

This case involves allegations of nursing negligence that allegedly resulted in Mrs. Shealy's fall in the nursing home on July 2, 2014. Respondent contended throughout the trial that Mrs. Shealy's fall was an unwitnessed event. Respondent did not obtain a Rule 27, SCRPC, deposition of Mrs. Shealy to preserve her testimony regarding the fall and offer it at trial, and no witness that testified at trial had any actual recollection of the actual events temporally surrounding Mrs. Shealy's fall or the fall itself. Therefore, at trial, Respondent presented no direct evidence as to the either how Utricia Shealy fell or why Utricia Shealy fell. Rather, Respondent relied upon the purchased expert testimony of Ellen Lewis, RN, to attempt to establish negligence and causation. Specifically, Nurse Lewis reviewed certain records and opined that it was the negligence of the nursing home employees that was the proximate cause of Utricia Shealy's fall. (R. p. 490-696.)

The primary "breach of the standard of care" identified by Ellen Lewis was her contention that the nursing home failed to obtain physician consultation when Mrs. Shealy's agitation and confusion was not improving after taking Ativan at 5:30 p.m. on July 2, 2014. (R. p. 534-538;552-553.) The relevant facts surrounding her testimony follow:

Mrs. Shealy came to the nursing home from Lexington Medical Center with a prescription for Ativan, an antianxiety prescription made on July 1, 2014. (R. p. 521, 635.) Mrs. Shealy was admitted to the nursing home on July 1, 2014, and she remained in the nursing home a total of only 27 hours. (R. p. 521, 644.) On that first day of admission, July 1, 2014, the nursing home staff observed Mrs. Shealy suffering from confusion and agitation, and the nursing home staff provided Mrs. Shealy with a dose of her Ativan, the antianxiety medication ordered by Lexington Medical Center. (R. p. 521.) Mrs. Shealy had taken Ativan for twenty (20) years. (R. p. 212-213.) On the

morning of July 2, 2014, even after receiving Ativan the prior evening and her family staying at the nursing home until around midnight in an effort to calm Mrs. Shealy, Mrs. Shealy remained very agitated, tearful, and experiencing hallucinations on July 2, 2014. (Tr. p. 521-523.)

Mrs. Shealy remained agitated and combative all afternoon. (R. p. 987.) Her family was present all afternoon while Mrs. Shealy was exhibiting these symptoms. (Id.). The nursing home staff provided Mrs. Shealy the Ativan at 5:30 p.m. Because she remained agitated and confused, she was moved to the nurse's station for close monitoring. (Id.) This one sentence in Agape Record 141, namely that "Patient remained agitated, confused, and combative," is the only evidence, circumstantial or direct, in the record regarding Mrs. Shealy's physical or mental condition in the 115-minute window after she took Ativan and prior to her fall at 7:25 p.m.

Ellen Lewis conceded that she had no idea how long Ms. Shealy's circumstances that she experienced at the time of the fall actually existed prior to the fall. (R. p. 637-641.) Nurse Ebonie McDaniel, who created Agape Record 141, could provide no direct testimony about the fall; she testified that she had absolutely no independent recollection of either Utricia Shealy or the fall, and her testimony was based solely on the records shown to her by Respondent's counsel. (R. p. 433.)

Ellen Lewis contends that the nursing home staff owed a duty to notify Mrs. Shealy's physician, Dr. Gal Margalit, of the fact that Mrs. Shealy was confused and agitated so that he could order a change in Mrs. Shealy's interventions. (R. p. 534-542; 986.) Appellants agree; as discussed below, the record confirms that is exactly what the nursing home staff did. Dr. Margalit was informed by the nursing home staff of Mrs. Shealy's conditions on the date of the fall and he made the orders he deemed appropriate, his acts were an intervening event.

**2. Dr. Margalit's treatment on the date of the fall.**

On July 2, 2014, Mrs. Shealy was seen by her selected physician, Dr. Margalit. (R. p. 524-525; 985). Dr. Margalit was employed by a company called Agape Senior Primary Care, Inc.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 961-962.) The nursing home staff specifically notified Dr. Margalit that, despite Mrs. Shealy taking Ativan on July 1, 2014, Mrs. Shealy remained "confused and agitated" on July 2, 2014, indicating specifically to Dr. Margalit that Mrs. Shealy was a "huge fall risk." (R. p. 418-419; 988-996.) Ebonie McDaniel, RN, testified that she believed that she was the actual nurse who advised Dr. Margalit of Mrs. Shealy's condition on July 2, 2014. (R. p. 476-477.)

The record specifically indicates that Dr. Margalit performed his own examination and found Mrs. Shealy to be "confused/verbally not connected to conversation" and "confused and agitated" the morning after she was given Ativan. (R. p. 990, emphasis in the original.) In his examination records, Dr. Margalit noted that Mrs. Shealy had "post op confusion superimposed on some pre existing [sic] confusion after hip surgery." [Id.] Dr. Margalit considered the medications being give to Utricia Shealy on the date of her fall, including the Ativan prescription. (R. p. 991.) He issued an order increasing the number of Ativan from once daily to four (4) times daily. (R. p. 325.) Dr. Margalit indicated that he was "satisfied" with Mrs. Shealy's active medication list and satisfied with the documentation surrounding Mrs. Shealy's current medications. (R. p. 996.) Dr. Margalit signed this medical record at 7:46 p.m., approximately twenty (20) minutes after the time Ellen Lewis states Mrs. Shealy fell at the nursing home. (Id.)

Ellen Lewis provided a list of other fall interventions that might have been used, many that required a physician's order from Dr. Margalit before the interventions could have been used for

---

<sup>1</sup> Agape Senior Primary Care, Inc. was initially a party to the lawsuit prior to being dismissed by Respondent's predecessor. (R. p. 27-65; 1137-1162.)

Mrs. Shealy. (R. p. 652-654; 680-685.) The interventions that Ellen Lewis indicated that Dr. Margalit could have ordered included a chair alarm or some other restraints (R. p. 549, 642, 652-655.) However, Ellen Lewis agreed that Dr. Margalit received notification from the nursing staff about her ongoing confusion, agitation, and high risk for falls on July 2, 2014, and he made the overriding medical determination on what change in fall interventions needed to be ordered for Mrs. Shealy on the day of her fall:

- Q. You're a nurse practitioner; correct?  
A. Yes.  
Q. And you work subordinate to a physician; correct?  
A. Correct.  
Q. You don't tell physicians how to do their job. It's vice-versa; right?  
A. I mean, I've made suggestions to physicians.  
Q. Sure.  
A. You have to do it the right way. If I know the patient better and if the patient is in front of me, I'm going to make a suggestion if they're on the phone. I'm not going to say it rudely or, you know, condescendingly. But, no, I certainly make suggestions to physicians.  
Q. Sure. But you don't tell them, ultimately, what to do. They make their own independent determinations; correct?  
A. Correct.  
Q. And nurses follow doctors' orders; right?  
A. Correct.  
Q. That's the standard of care; correct?  
A. Correct.  
Q. And Dr. Margalit, once armed with the change in the patient's condition, he opted for an intervention, didn't he?  
A. Yes.  
Q. And he increased the amount of Ativan from one time a day to four times a day; correct?  
A. Correct.  
Q. He didn't order any type of physical restraint to be placed on Ms. Shealy, did he?  
A. Correct.

(R. p. 643-644.)

**3. The intervening cause defense.**

For the jury to find that the nursing home staff's failure to contact Dr. Margalit was negligent, and that such negligence was the proximate cause of Utricia Shealy's fall, the jury must

inherently also believe that a call to Dr. Margalit would have resulted in some additional orders being provided by Dr. Margalit that could have prevented this fall. Respondent did not present Dr. Margalit's testimony by *de bene esse* deposition or otherwise. Therefore, the only evidence in the record is that a nursing home employee had already advised Dr. Margalit of Ms. Shealy's mental condition and fall risk earlier that same day. Dr. Margalit had already determined that Ms. Shealy's psychiatric mental status was "confused and agitated." There is no evidence in the record to differentiate in any meaningful way between Ms. Shealy's mental status at the time of her fall and at the time that Dr. Margalit saw Ms. Shealy earlier the same day.

Ellen Lewis testified regarding a list of restraints, such as a lap belt or lap cushion, that she opined were medically necessary to prevent Utricia Shealy's fall, and she stated that it was a breach of the standard of care for these restraints to not have been provided to Ms. Shealy based on her "confused" and "agitated" mental status. On cross examination, Nurse Lewis agreed that only a physician could have ordered these restraints, and that Dr. Margalit did not order those on July 2, 2018. Instead, he ordered an increase in Ativan for Utricia Shealy. There is no dispute that a nurse gave this Ativan to Ms. Shealy at 5:30 p.m., 115 minutes before her fall, per Dr. Margalit's order, and then moved Ms. Shealy to the nurse's station for closer observation.

There existed no "rare" or "exceptional" reason in this case for Dr. Margalit's assessment of Mrs. Shealy and direction of the Appellants on the date of the fall to not be submitted to the jury as a potential intervening cause, resulting in a charge on an affirmative defense of intervening cause and on option on the verdict form. If Ellen Lewis' opinions about the medical need for additional orders on the date of Utricia Shealy's fall, including restraints, is sufficient circumstantial evidence whereby the jury could find or infer that the Appellants' negligent failure to obtain or use restraints was the cause of Utricia Shealy's fall, then her testimony and Dr.

Margalit's records must also constitute sufficient circumstantial evidence whereby the jury could have found or inferred that Dr. Margalit's supervening decision, as the treating physician, not to order restraints when he treated Ms. Shealy that same day and while she was in the same condition as when she fell, is a sufficient break in the sequence or causal connection.

Notably, despite Appellants' request during Respondent's Motion for Directed Verdict, the Respondent was not limited to submitting or arguing evidence to the jury to only those allegedly negligent acts that followed Dr. Margalit's visit at on July 2, 2018. Rather, the Respondent was permitted to submit evidence of a number of acts of alleged negligence – including matters of alleged ordinary negligence in hiring, training, and supervision nursing home staff that all preceded Mrs. Shealy's 27-hour stay at the facility, as well as alleged professional negligence in the initial admission and assessment of Utricia Shealy – that all preceded Dr. Margalit's evaluation and medical orders on July 2, 2018. Therefore, Appellants respectfully contend that the court committed error in granting Respondent's motion for directed verdict. Appellants request that this ruling be reconsidered, amended, and that a new trial absolute be ordered so that Appellants may submit their affirmative defense of intervening cause to the jury for consideration by way of closing jury instructions and on the verdict form.

**B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY ADMITTING IMPROPER AND PREJUDICIAL EVIDENCE, REQUIRING A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE.**

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