THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2018-002236

Case No. 2016-CP-32-00950

RECEIVED

AUG 14 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Amy S. Davis as Personal Representative of The Estate of Utricia Shealy, deceased,
.....Respondent,

v.

Agape Nursing Rehabilitation Center, Inc., Agape Management Services, Inc., John Doe, Richard
Roe Corporation, Jane Doe, and Mary Doe Corporation,.....Defendants,

Of Which Agape Nursing Rehabilitation Center, Inc. and Agape Management Services, Inc. are
theAppellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

C. Caleb Connor, SC Bar No. 100517

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

To establish “intervening” professional negligence by a physician, the propounding party must provide “evidence, through expert testimony, showing (1) the generally recognized and accepted practices and procedures that would be followed by average, competent practitioners in the physician’s field of medicine under the same or similar circumstances, and (2) that the physician departed from the recognized and generally acceptable standards.” *Melton v. Medtronic, Inc.*, 389 S.C. 641, 655, 698 S.E.2d 886, 893 (Ct. App. 2010) (emphasis added). Expert testimony is required “to establish both the standard of care and the [physician’s] failure to conform to that standard.” *Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp.*, 326 S.C. 248, 254, 487 S.E.2d 596, 599 (1997). Also, the party must show that the doctor’s departure from such standards was the proximate cause of the patient’s injuries and damages. *David v. McLeod Reg’l Med. Ctr.*, 367 S.C. 242, 248, 626 S.E.2d 1, 4 (2006).

A. Appellants were foreclosed from offering expert medical testimony because they failed to disclose any expert witness and the substance of their opinions prior to trial.

Pursuant to Rule 26(b)(4)(A), SCRPC, Respondent propounded discovery of Appellants' expert witnesses, including the subject matter and substance of facts and opinions of their expected testimony. During discovery, Appellants failed to disclose any such witnesses. At trial, the Trial Court granted Respondent's motion in limine excluding Appellants from offering expert testimony that was not properly disclosed. (R. pp. 00111-00116).

B. Appellants failed to offer expert medical testimony necessary to establish any intervening professional negligence of a physician, including Dr. Margalit.

To avail themselves of an affirmative defense of intervening cause relating to any physicians' conduct, Appellants must establish by the preponderance of the evidence through competent expert testimony that the physician whose conduct is at issue was subject to recognized and generally acceptable standards, that his conduct departed from such standards, and, that as a result of such departure, Ms. Shealy suffered injuries. At the trial of this matter, no evidence to support the aforementioned elements was presented, mandating directed verdict on Appellants' affirmative defense of intervening cause.

An "expert witness" means "an expert who is qualified as to the acceptable conduct of the professional whose conduct is at issue." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(A). To be competent to testify, an expert witness "must have acquired by reason of study or experience or both such knowledge and skill in a profession . . . that [s]he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of h[er] testimony." *Daves v. Cleary*, 355 S.C. 216, 228, 584 S.E.2d 423, 429 (Ct. App. 2003); *Gooding*, 326 S.C. at 252–53. Medical doctors and nurses are distinct professions. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-36-100(G)(7),(9). The standard of care for a physician must be established by one knowledgeable or skilled in the practice of medicine because the "standards of education and licensure for [nurses] are different from those of medical doctors." *Botelho v. Bycura*, 282 S.C. 578, 585, 320 S.E.2d 59, 64 (Ct. App. 1984).

In this case, Appellants erroneously argue that the testimony of Respondent's nursing expert, Ellen Lewis, RN, MSN, GNP-C, supports their theory that Dr. Gal Margalit's conduct, as a treating physician, was negligent and an intervening cause of Ms. Shealy's injuries. (Br. of App. pp. 6-8). Specifically, Appellants contend that Dr. Margalit failed to provide Facility staff "additional orders" after his initial "assessment of Ms. Shealy" upon her admission to the nursing home, thus causing her to fall. (Br. of App. pp. 10-11).

During the trial, Ms. Lewis was the only expert witness offered. No physician offered any testimony whatsoever. (R. pp. 00166-00810). Ms. Lewis is not a medical doctor nor did she hold herself out as competent to testify concerning the standard of care by physicians such as Dr. Margalit. (R. pp. 00492, 00511-00512). Moreover, during directed verdict argument at trial, Appellants' counsel conceded that Dr. Margalit¹ did not breach "the standard of care." (R. p. 00807).

In South Carolina, the practice of nursing means "the provision of services" requiring "the use of nursing judgment . . . in the clinical context . . . which guide nursing actions." S.C. Code Ann. § 40-33-20(46). Pursuant to Rules 701, 702, and 703 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence (SCRE), Ms. Lewis, who is a nurse and nurse practitioner, was tendered, without objection, as an *expert in the field of nursing*:

MR. CONNOR: Your Honor, at this time, I'd like to tender the witness as an expert in the following areas of nursing: The nursing process; . . . the nursing process as it relates to the care of gerontological patients; . . . [and] the standard of care for nursing homes. . .

MR. BLAKE: Without objection.

(R. pp. 00511-00512).

¹ In their brief, Appellants also make clear that "Dr. Margalit was employed by a [third-party] company called Agape Senior Primary Care, Inc.," and "Nurse Lewis" was only critical of "the nursing home employees." (Br. of App. pp. 6, 8).

Ms. Lewis, however, did offer numerous examples of substandard nursing care rendered by Appellants' staff. (R. pp. 00490-00696). Specifically, Ms. Lewis identified a host of nursing interventions available to Appellants prior to Ms. Shealy's fall that should have been, but were not, implemented by the Facility, including but not limited to:

- the failure to adequately monitor Ms. Shealy after administration of medication, including maintaining the resident in line of sight (R. pp. 00534, 00552, 00554);
- the failure to communicate with physical and occupational therapists (R. p. 00549);
- the failure to request a chair alarm (R. p. 00549);
- the failure to obtain a lap buddy, safety belt, or pommel cushion (R. pp. 00553, 00556);
- the failure to utilize hipsters or nonskid socks and shoes (R. p. 00557);
- the failure to place Ms. Shealy in a communal setting with group activities (R. p. 00555);
- the failure to notify a doctor in the face of a change in Ms. Shealy's condition, including increased combativeness (R. pp. 00534-00536, 00552-00553); and
- the failure to contact Ms. Shealy's family regarding her condition change (R. p. 00557).

As a nurse and nurse practitioner, Ms. Lewis' opinions were held within a *reasonable degree of nursing certainty*. (R. pp. 00529, 00533, 00558, 00563, 00593).

Because the record is completely devoid of any credible evidence that Dr. Margalit, or any other third-party physician, was negligent, the Trial Court's directed verdict as to Appellants' intervening cause defense was appropriate.

C. Even though Respondent's directed verdict was granted, Appellants were not prejudiced by the Trial Court's ruling because they received the benefit of an "intervening cause" jury instruction.

Despite objection from Respondent, the Trial Court charged the jury at the Appellants' request on the "unavoidable accident" defense. (R. pp. 00811-00812). This jury instruction is, in effect, the same charge which would have been provided had the Trial Court not granted Respondent's motion for directed verdict on Appellants' intervening cause defense. (R. pp. 00929-

00930). Therefore, by providing this instruction, the Trial Court effectively cured any error for which the Appellants now complain, further mandating denial of the pending appeal.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED LIMITED, RELEVANT EVIDENCE FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE JURY.

Appellants misconstrue Respondent's claims and legal theories, and the nature and purpose of certain evidence offered at trial, which was relevant and probative. In this case, Respondent asserted legal theories of corporate liability seeking to hold the business savvy Appellants, as owners, operators, and managers of the Facility, accountable for their acts and omissions which created and perpetuated the systemic abuse and neglect of residents, including Ms. Shealy. Ms. Shealy's injury was not an isolated event, and Appellants should not be permitted to escape liability by claiming to manage their Facility with their eyes closed.

Relevant evidence is that "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence," Rule 401, SCRE, and the Trial Court "serves as the gatekeeper." *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 174 (2010).

"The admission of evidence is within the trial court's discretion." *R & G Constr., Inc.*, 343 S.C. at 439. "The court's ruling to admit or exclude evidence will only be reversed if it constitutes an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." *Id.* "To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof." *Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005).

Within its sound discretion as gatekeeper of all evidentiary matters, the Trial Court properly admitted limited, relevant evidence, after weighing its probative value against prejudice

and other considerations. Moreover, even if certain admitted evidence was prejudicial, there is no reasonable support that the jury's verdict was swayed by any evidence challenged by Appellants.

A. Prior regulatory survey results were used to illustrate Appellants' notice and knowledge of dangerous conditions at the Facility, not to establish prior bad acts.

Appellants brief misinterprets the nature and purpose of regulatory survey evidence offered by Respondent, mischaracterizes objections lodged during the trial, and ignores the Trial Court's rationale as to why Respondent was permitted to use survey evidence to elicit testimony. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) survey results were not offered to establish "similar accidents, transactions, or happenings" but were used to elicit testimony to reflect Appellants had notice and knowledge of dangerous conditions at their Facility.²

Courts throughout the United States have held regulatory surveys and other similar evidence are relevant and admissible to show prior knowledge and notice of dangerous conditions existing on the premises, as well as motive, intent, and the absence of mistake of nursing home operators.³ Like here, an Arkansas court held "surveys [were] probative of the fact that the [A]ppellants were on notice of dangerous conditions in the nursing home due to . . . adequacy-of-staff issues." *Advocat*, 353 Ark. at 60. Similarly, a Georgia court found reports admissible in the "liability" phase of trial because they "show [the nursing home] had notice its employees were not properly supervising residents. . . ." *Peacock*, 230 Ga. App. at 727. In Florida, the court has also allowed evidence of general conditions at the nursing home "not directly related to care or

² Appellants' Designation of Matter to be Included in the Record on Appeal references "Plaintiff's Exhibit 6 – DHEC Survey"; however, no such exhibit exists in the Trial Transcript. (R. pp. 00092-00093). In fact, the survey documents at issue were not actually submitted as evidence for review and consideration by the jury.

³ See e.g., *Advocat, Inc. v. Sauer*, 111 S.W.3d 346 (Ark. 2003); *Peacock v. HCP III Eastman, Inc.*, 497 S.E.2d 253 (Ga. Ct. App. 1998); *Mitchell v. State*, 491 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1996); *Criswell v. Best Western International*, 636 So.2d 562 (Fla. 3d Dist.Ct.App. 1994); *Montgomery Health Care Facility v. Ballard*, 565 So.2d 221 (Ala. 1990).

condition of the named victims” because it showed “knowledge and absence of mistake” on part of the facility. *Mitchell*, 491 So.2d at 598-99.

It is well established within our own State that “prior complaints of similar defects are relevant” in the determination of foreseeability and whether a party “should have known [conditions] were defective.” *JKT Co. v. Hardwick*, 274 S.C. 413, 416, 265 S.E.2d 510, 512 (1980). Further, this evidentiary concept has been applied to admit this type of evidence to show “intent, motive, and knowledge.” See *Rutledge v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co.*, 286 S.C. 360, 369, 334 S.E.2d 131, 136-37 (Ct. App. 1985).

In this case, Appellants’ corporate representative, Danielle Henderson, affirmed the primary purpose of the regulatory survey process and corresponding plan of correction is to prevent deficiencies from reoccurring at the Facility. (R. p. 00296). Ms. Henderson testified that the survey process puts the Facility on notice of problems and dangerous conditions that the surveyors identify, and she affirmed the Appellants’ execution of the plan of correction is an acknowledgement that the Facility is on notice of the cited issues. (R. pp. 00322-00323).

Despite Appellants’ assertion that this information should have been excluded because it was prejudicial evidence of “prior bad acts,” the Trial Court, within its discretion and after balancing the probative value and potential prejudicial effect, properly allowed Respondent to elicit testimony of relevant violations for purpose of establishing Appellants’ prior “notice” of dangerous conditions related to falls existing at the Facility. (R. pp. 00317-00321). Consequently, no error occurred warranting a new trial.

B. Redacted Medicare Cost Reports and other financial information were properly admitted.

Appellants also argue the jury should not have received testimony or exhibits which included financial data, including sales information and a redacted Medicare Cost Report.

To support Respondent's theory of vicarious liability, evidence of Appellants' exercise of control over its subsidiary was properly submitted to the jury. This evidence was also properly considered in light of Respondent's allegation of agency, joint venture, and amalgamation of interest. Testimony relating to the sale of the Facility showed Appellant Agape Management exerted complete control over the Facility.⁴ Testimony regarding the employment of Middleton family members, as managers and officers involved in decision-making, further illustrated Appellant Agape Management's exercise of control over the Appellant Agape Nursing. Furthermore, the Medicare Cost Report, which was redacted by Appellants to remove all references to financial figures, was admitted to further reflect the interrelatedness of the Appellants in the provision of services at the Facility. The evidence at issue illustrated Appellant Agape Management's operation, management, and control of the Facility, including its control over the allocation of financial resources at the Facility, and was properly admitted by the Trial Court. (R. pp. 00245-00247).

The evidence was properly admitted for purposes of showing bias, for impeachment, and to show Appellant Agape Management's operation, management, and control of the Facility and other indicia relevant to Respondent's corporate theories of alter ego, agency, joint venture, and/or amalgamation of interests. Even if error occurred, such error was harmless as there is no indication it unduly influenced the jury.

C. Appellants waived the opportunity to contest admissibility of matters of a financial nature to the extent they failed to timely object.

⁴ Despite the assertion that evidence of Appellants' transaction was prejudicial and should have been excluded, there was only a single sales-related reference to the "little less than \$20 million" transaction within Mr. Middleton's deposition. Moreover, Appellants opened the door for such evidence during opening statements: "[The] nursing home is closed. It shut down in 2015. The company doesn't have any operations anymore, doesn't have any employees. Its only existence now is to wrap up its liabilities, things like this lawsuit, and close out its financial books." (R. p. 00156). It was evident that Appellants reference to the sale of the company was intended to persuade the jury that rendering a verdict against a defunct company would be futile. Nevertheless, allowing the jury to hear one mention of the Appellants' sale of the Facility within a five (5) day trial was harmless.

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